No. 29033-6-III IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

STA	TF	OF	$W\Delta$	SHIN	GT	ON
OID		\mathcal{O}_{1}	- V V ∠⊃x	α	OI.	OIN.

Plaintiff/Respondent,

VS.

CLAYTON GENE STAFFORD,

Defendant/Appellant.

Appellant's Brief

DAVID N. GASCH WSBA No. 18270 P.O. Box 30339 Spokane, WA 99223-3005 (509) 443-9149 Attorney for Appellant

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred in failing to suppress all the statements made by Mr. Stafford at the police interrogation once Mr. Stafford made an equivocal request for counsel.
- 2. The trial court erred in finding that Mr. Stafford's statement, "And I understand that I should have an attorney present most, pretty soon," was Mr. Stafford expressing his understanding of his right to counsel.

 Finding of Fact No. 16, CP 754.
- 3. The trial court erred in finding Mr. Stafford made no request for an attorney at the time he made the above statement. Finding of Fact No. 18, CP 754.
- 4. The trial court erred in finding that Mr. Stafford had prior knowledge of his constitutional rights through other contacts with law enforcement. Finding of Fact No. 21, CP 755.
- 5. The trial court erred in finding that Mr. Stafford's statement on page 19 of the interview indicates he had previously not invoked his right to counsel. Finding of Fact No. 26, CP 755.
- 6. The trial court erred in concluding that Mr. Stafford knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently waived his rights. Conclusion of Law No. 3, CP 755.

- 7. The trial court erred in concluding that all statements made prior to the request for counsel on page 19 of the interview are admissible pursuant to CrR 3.5. Conclusion of Law No. 8, CP 756.
- 8. The trial court erred in allowing an expert DNA analyst to testify about the results of DNA tests that were conducted by other people who did not testify.
- 9. The trial court erred in allowing the testimony of Theresa LaFray over Mr. Stafford's objection.
- 10. The evidence was insufficient to support the conviction for aggravated first degree murder.
- 11. The trial court erred in instructing the jury it had to be unanimous to answer "no" to the special verdict.
- 12. The trial court erred in imposing a sentence of life without parole based on the special verdict.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Once Mr. Stafford made an equivocal request for counsel at the police interrogation was the officer prohibited from continuing the interrogation and could be only ask questions clarifying Mr. Stafford's request?

- 2. Was the Sixth Amendment Confrontation Clause violated when an expert witness's testimony was based on the work of others who did not testify and that work was done for the purpose of criminal prosecution?
- 3. Should the testimony of Theresa LaFray have been excluded because it was irrelevant and its probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice?
- 4. Was Mr. Stafford's right to due process under Washington
 Constitution, Article 1, § 3 and United States Constitution, Fourteenth
 Amendment violated where the State failed to prove the essential elements
 of the crime of aggravated first degree murder?
- 5. Should the aggravating factor and special verdict be vacated because the jury was incorrectly instructed it had to be unanimous to answer "no" to the special verdict?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 13, 1993, Dr. Roger Vielbig and a group of Boy Scouts found a woman's body floating in the Yakima River while on a canoe trip. RP 973-77. The woman was nude except for a black bra pushed up over her shoulders and there was blood on her face. RP 979. Dr. Vielbig testified the swiftness of the current in that area combined with a number of rocks and logs could have caused the bumps, bruises and scratches on the body.

RP 988. The cause of death was a skull fracture from a blow to the head by a blunt object. There were also signs of strangulation. RP 1079. The victim was identified later that same day by her boyfriend as 21-year-old Shawna Yandell. RP 1277.

Travis Sinden, about 24 years old in 1993, was the victim's boyfriend. The two of them had lived together for about a year and had come to Yakima from Arkansas about three weeks prior to the incident looking for work picking cherries. RP 1135-45. They were living in an old garage owned by the Wilkeys—family friends of Travis Sinden's family. Travis testified he and Shawna were always together and never did anything separately. Travis said he did not know Mr. Stafford. RP 1145-47.

On the morning of 6/13/93, Travis' friend Kenny Maddon and his girlfriend, Kim Moyer, came to the garage and woke up Travis and Shawna to go to the Tri-Cities for a possible cherry-picking job. RP 1148. Travis bought a case of beer and they all drank beer on the way to the Tri-Cities. RP 1149. The cherry-picking job did not pan out so they bought a fifth of whiskey and headed back to Yakima with all of them drinking. RP 1150. Travis said he was drunk and belligerent by the time they got back to Yakima. Kenny dropped off Travis and Shawna near Sportsman's Park by the Yakima River. RP 1151.

Kenny's cousin, Tina Wilkey, testified that Travis, Shawna and Kenny drank a lot and almost every day—especially if the three of them were together. RP 1247. Travis and Shawna also liked to go out to Sportsman's Park 2-3 nights a week and "huff paint." They also huffed paint in the garage. RP 1184, 1246-47. Tina said she had told Travis that Sportsman's Park was a dangerous place after dark and that people got killed there all the time. RP 1248-50.

Tina recalled one prior occasion when she drove to Sportsman's Park to pick up Travis and Shawna where she had dropped them off earlier. Travis came down a trail to the car alone and said Shawna wanted to stay. Tina reminded Travis about the park being a dangerous place and convinced him to go back and get her. When Travis brought Shawna back to the car she didn't want to leave—she just wanted to sit out there huffing paint, even by herself. "She just didn't care; she didn't know where she was half the time." RP 1249-50.

Tina also testified that she and Shawna were friends and close to the same age. Tina and Shawna would sometimes hang out and go do things together without Travis. Shawna wanted to get high all the time. Tina said she didn't do drugs. RP1250-51.

¹ The term "huff paint" means to get high on paint fumes by pouring paint in a plastic bag and breathing in the fumes by holding the bag opening over mouth and nose. RP 1152.

After Kenny dropped them off at Sportsman's Park the night of 6/13/93, following the failed cherry-picking expedition to the Tri-Cities, Travis and Shawna went to a familiar secluded area by the Yakima River to huff paint. The next thing Travis remembered was being pushed or falling into the river. RP 1152-53. Shawna helped Travis to the bathroom to change his clothes where he passed out. The next thing he remembered was Shawna shaking him waking him up to call the Wilkeys to come and get them and take them home because she was cold and tired and wanted to go to bed. RP 1154-55.

Travis called from a payphone and spoke to Tina and her father,

Junior, but neither of them was willing to drive out at 1:00 a.m. and pick
them up. RP 1155, 1227. Tina said Travis sounded drunk in her statement
to the police. She reminded Travis of what she had told him before—that
she would not go out to Sportsman's Park after dark because people get
killed there all the time. RP 1242-43.

At this point, Travis saw someone coming toward them holding a flashlight that he assumed was the park ranger, so he and Shawna headed back to the bathroom. RP 1156. David Small, the now-retired park ranger, testified that he contacted two people near the restroom that night. He asked them if they were campers and they said "no." He recalled the girl asking

for money to use the payphone but he said he didn't have any. He said the girl also asked for a ride home but he said he could not do that. RP 1254-62. He said the man said a few words that were kind of slurred and he was real unclear. RP 1262.

After they returned to the restroom, Travis passed out again. The next thing he remembered was waking up inside the bathroom and Shawna was gone. He said he hollered for her several times, got no answer, so he walked home a mile and a half to the Wilkey's garage. RP 1156-57.

The next morning about 7:30 a.m. Travis asked to borrow the car to go get cigarettes. Junior Wilkey gave him the keys. Travis said he bought cigarettes and then went to the park sometime that morning. He looked around for about 20 minutes and hollered for Shawna, but he did not see her so he left. RP 1160, 1320-22. When Travis came back to the Wilkey's house, Junior asked him where Shawna was. Travis replied, "I don't know, I guess she's up at the park." RP 1231-32.

Travis eventually called the police sometime later that afternoon. A short while later, the police came and took Travis to the police station and the morgue where he identified Shawna's body. RP 1160-62. The area where Shawna's body was found is about two and a half miles upstream of Sportsman's Park. RP 1022.

Lt. Noland Wentz, the lead investigator in the case, searched the area where Shawna's body was found, known as the Greenway, for 4-5 days along with around 20 other people but found no evidence of a crime scene or evidence associated with the victim. RP 1011-30, 1050-51. A similar search of Sportsman's Park failed to produce any evidence. RP 1056-57, 1068. Lt. Wentz concluded the crime probably occurred in a different area. RP 1064. Travis Sinden and Kenny Maddon were considered persons of interest by Lt. Wentz in his investigation, but both were eliminated as suspects. RP 1844-47.

Dr. Thiersch was the forensic pathologist who performed the autopsy the next day. RP 1076. He found spermatozoa in vaginal swabs taken from the victim that could have been as much as seven days old, depending on temperature and other conditions. RP 1096. Comparative analysis of the DNA from the sperm on the vaginal swabs and DNA samples from persons of interest done in 1995, did not reveal any matches. RP 1510-12. No spermatozoa were found on oral swabs taken from the victim's mouth. RP 1098.

Dr. Thiersch testified injuries on the victim's arms, legs and feet could be defense wounds, but could also be caused by falling down from being intoxicated. RP 1088, 1104. Linear marks on the victim's legs could

have been caused by dragging or from hitting rocks while floating in the river. RP 1104. Dr. Thiersch further testified he was unable to tell whether the victim was raped or had consensual sex. He was also unable to tell if the person who had sex with the victim was the same person who inflicted the lethal head injuries. RP 1108-09.

Subsequent testing of the vaginal and oral swabs was done by Orchid Cellmark, an independent laboratory, in 2008. This testing revealed the presence of spermatozoa on both the vaginal and the oral swabs. RP 1712, 1750-57. A DNA profile was obtained from the DNA extracted from the sperm found on both swabs. RP 1751, 1757. This profile was entered into CODIS, a combined DNA index system managed by the FBI. RP 1565-66. In May 2009, a "hit" was obtained that matched the DNA profile to Mr. Stafford. RP 1566-67, 1765-66.

The police then determined that Mr. Stafford was residing in Yakima. RP 1853. A bucal swab was obtained from Mr. Stafford and sent to Orchid Cellmark. RP 1686, 1691. Comparative DNA analysis by Orchid Cellmark matched the DNA from the sperm on the vaginal and oral swabs to Mr. Stafford. RP 1765-66.

Admissibility of Mr. Stafford's statements.

After the police determined where Mr. Stafford was residing in Yakima, Lt. Wentz, Detective Kellett, and four uniformed officers went to Mr. Stafford's house, handcuffed him and took him to police headquarters for interrogation. RP 1853-55. The interrogation was tape recorded and portions were played for the jury at trial. RP 1855-84.

Before trial the court held a CrR 3.5 hearing to determine the admissibility of Mr. Stafford's statements. RP 22-208. The tape was played as part of the evidence at the hearing. RP 43-69. Lt. Wentz did the questioning. RP 40. The following pertinent statements are from that recording:

- Q Do you understand that this statement is being recorded?
- A Yes, I (inaudible) hear that. And I understand that I should have an attorney present most, pretty soon.
- Q Okay. Well let me go through this.

RP 43.

Mr. Stafford was then asked his biographical information and read his constitutional rights. He said he understood them. RP 43-46. The interview then continued as follows:

- Well, this is a (inaudible) waiver of constitutional rights.This is if you're willing to talk with me to begin with.
- A Yeah, I'm not going to sign none of that unless an attorney asks me to sign something like that.
- Q Okay. Well, I'm not an attorney.
- A Right.
- Q And I told you before that I can't advise you.
- A Right.
- Q All right. What I'm going to do is kind of tell you a little story.
- A Okay, tell me a little story.

RP 46-47.

Lt. Wentz then tells how the body was discovered and continues with the interrogation. He told Mr. Stafford he had become a person of interest as causing the death of Shawna Yandell. Mr. Stafford denied knowing Shawna Yandell or Travis Sinden, or having anything to do with the murder. RP 47-53. Mr. Stafford said he was living in the Yakima area in 1993. RP 53-54. Lt. Wentz told Mr. Stafford that Shawna was sexually assaulted before she was murdered and Mr. Stafford's DNA was found. Mr. Stafford said, "No it wasn't." RP 58. After a few more questions and

answers, Mr. Stafford made an unequivocal request for an attorney. RP 59-65.

Mr. Stafford argued that all his statements should be suppressed because he made an equivocal request for counsel and never waived his constitutional rights. RP 188-99. The court disagreed and suppressed only the portion of the interview after Mr. Stafford made his unequivocal request for counsel. RP 204-08.

Testimony of Theresa LaFrey.

Theresa LaFray testified for the State over Mr. Stafford's objection. RP 1423-35. LaFray testified that sometime during the summer of 1993, she doesn't know which month, Mr. Stafford showed up at her house late at night covered in blood. LaFray said Mr. Stafford was living next door with his sister at the time. RP 1457. LaFray's house is three quarters of a mile from Sportsman's Park. RP 1452-53. He said he had been in a fight with some Mexicans and wanted to know how to get the blood out of his clothes. LaFray said she told Mr. Stafford to get into the shower, throw his clothes out to her and she would wash and dry them. RP 1454. After she laundered his clothes she threw Mr. Stafford his clothes and told him to leave. RP 1456.

LaFray had been interviewed prior to trial by both parties including multiple times by Lt. Wentz. She was a person of interest because her husband had once sold a car to Mr. Stafford, who drove the car for a short time then got rid of it. Police eventually located the car but found no evidence of any value pertaining to this case. RP 1125, 1423, 1459. LaFray made no mention to the incident of Mr. Stafford showing up at her house covered with blood in any of these prior interviews. She only contacted Lt. Wentz with this information after the trial had begun. RP 1459.

LaFray admitted on cross examination that she did not like Mr. Stafford. RP 1460, 1467. She also stated she came forward with this late information because she was afraid Mr. Stafford might not be convicted. RP 1465-66. She originally told Lt. Wentz that this incident occurred sometime in late summer between 10:30 and 12:00 p.m. She also said she usually was not up later than midnight. RP 1462.

Defense counsel objected to LaFray's testimony because of the late disclosure of this information and its questionable validity and relevancy, since LaFray could not say when this occurred or whether it had anything to do with this case. He further argued there was no corroboration of this evidence and that its probative value was far outweighed by its prejudicial effect. RP 1426-29. The court overruled the objection. RP 1434-35.

Testimony regarding DNA results.

The only evidence matching the DNA profile to Mr. Stafford was testimony from Valencia Ward, a DNA analyst for Orchid Cellmark. RP 1765-66. Ms. Ward stated at the outset of her testimony that she did not perform any of the DNA tests herself. RP 1713. Mr. Stafford objected to Ms. Ward testifying any further about the DNA tests or results citing *Crawford v. Washington* and *Melendez-Diaz v. Massachussetts*. The court overruled the objection relying on *State v. Lui*. RP 1738.

Continuing her testimony, Ms. Ward testified about the general process Orchid Cellmark uses to extract DNA from cells. RP 1745-46. Her role for the samples received in this case was to review the reports submitted by others who actually did the testing and then reach her own conclusions. RP 1746-47. There was no visual or audio recording of the testing procedures to see what was actually done. RP 1780. She relied solely on what someone else wrote down as being accurate information of what was done. In this case, Jenna Sparling, the person who actually did the DNA testing, no longer works at Orchid Cellmark. RP 1780-81.

On cross examination, defense counsel showed Ms. Ward an e-mail from Jenna Sparling, dated 8/22/08, in which she mixed up and misstated the quantity of sperm on the vaginal swab versus the quantity on the oral

swab. Ms. Ward admitted she relied on the sperm quantity stated on the laboratory report as being correct information. That sperm quantity was listed on the report by Jenna Sparling, the same person who misstated the sperm quantities in her e-mail. RP 1781-82.

Special verdict instruction.

The jury was asked to find by special verdict the aggravating circumstance that the murder was committed in the course of, in furtherance of, or in immediate flight from the crime of first or second degree rape. RP 2148-49. The jury was instructed in pertinent part regarding the special verdict:

Because this is a criminal case, all 12 of you must agree for you to answer the special verdict form. In order to answer the verdict form, yes, you must unanimously be satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that yes is the correct answer. If you have a reasonable doubt as to the question, you must answer no.

Because this is a criminal case, each of you must agree for you to return a verdict. When all of you have so agreed, fill in the proper form of verdict or verdicts to express your decision.

RP 2148.

The jury found Mr. Stafford guilty of aggravated first degree murder and answered "yes" to the special verdict. RP 2273-74. Based on this answer, the court imposed a sentence of life without possibility of parole. RP 2283. This appeal followed. CP 3.

D. ARGUMENT

Issue No 1. Once Mr. Stafford made an equivocal request for counsel at the police interrogation, the officer was prohibited from continuing the interrogation and could only ask questions clarifying Mr. Stafford's request.²

The Fifth and Sixth amendments to the federal constitution (and their State counterparts) include guarantees of the right to counsel. The Fifth Amendment prohibition against compelled self-incrimination requires that custodial interrogation be preceded by advice to the accused that he has the right to remain silent and the right to the presence of an attorney.

Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 479, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694, 10 A.L.R.3d 974 (1966). The United States Supreme Court has held that once the right to counsel is invoked the police cannot initiate further interrogation or seek a waiver until the suspect has an opportunity to meet with counsel, and further, that counsel must be present during any future interrogation once the right to counsel is invoked. State v. Warness, 77 Wn.App. 636, 639, 893 P.2d 665 (1995) (citing Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 101 S.Ct. 1880, 68 L.Ed.2d 378 (1981) and Minnick v. Mississippi, 498 U.S. 146, 111 S.Ct. 486, 112 L.Ed.2d 489 (1990)).

² Assignments of Error Nos. 1-7.

When a suspect who is advised of rights makes an equivocal request for counsel during a custodial interrogation, the interrogating officer must stop the interrogation. The officer may then ask questions to clarify the suspect's wishes. But those questions must be strictly limited to clarifying the suspect's request. *State v. Aten*, 130 Wn.2d 640, 665-66, 927 P.2d 210 (1996) (citing *State v. Robtoy*, 98 Wn.2d 30, 38-39, 653 P.2d 284 (1982)).

Here, Mr. Stafford made an equivocal request for counsel before he was even read his constitutional rights or asked to waive them. At the beginning of the interview Lt. Wentz asked, "Do you understand that this statement is being recorded?" Mr. Stafford responded, "Yes, I (inaudible) hear that. And I understand that I should have an attorney present most, pretty soon." RP 43. The trial court's finding that this statement was merely Mr. Stafford expressing his understanding of his right to counsel (Finding of Fact No. 16, CP 754) is error. There is no such statement in the record of the interview. Nor is it supported by any other evidence in the record. It is pure conjecture and therefore not a proper finding of fact.

The trial court further erred in finding Mr. Stafford made no request for an attorney at the time he made the above statement. Finding of Fact No. 18, CP 754. While it is not an unequivocal request for counsel, the

statement is none the less an equivocal request that required the interviewing officer to clarify before any further interrogation.

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