### **FILED**

JAN 06, 2015

Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

NO. 29033-6-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

CLAYTON G. STAFFORD, Appellant.

# BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Tamara A. Hanlon, WSBA #28345 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

JOSEPH BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2d St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

#

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

In addition, the manner in which Shawna was found shows that this was not a friendly, consensual encounter. She was found dead, with five skull fractures from blunt force blows to her head. RP 1079-87, 1114. She also had numerous defensive wounds all over her body, evidence indicative of a struggle while she was alive and a lack of consent. RP 1091. In addition, there were signs of attempted strangulation, as well as evidence of her being dragged. RP 1066, 1091-3, 10779, SE 14-5, 17, 21-5. She was also naked except for her bra, which was pushed up by her shoulder area and still hooked in the back. RP 979, 1006, 1067, 1078, 1932, SE 5, 15. Furthermore, she had injuries consistent with a sexual assault, including a contusion on her left thigh, and scrapes on her right lower abdomen and thigh. RP 1116.

Furthermore, Stafford said the he did not know her. RP 49, 53, SE 50-1. His statement to the detectives was *not* that he had consensual sex with her or may have had consensual sex with her. He completely denied knowing her and later denied that his DNA was found inside of her. SE 50-1. His statement denying that he knew her was made before police told him of the DNA match. RP 53. These statements inculpate him in the rape and murder of Shawna Yandell. The only reason to completely deny knowing her and to deny the presence of his DNA is to distance himself from the crime and the victim in an attempt to avoid conviction.

The evidence at trial also showed Shawna's intent that night at the park. According to multiple witnesses, she was tired and wanted to go home. RP 1155-6, 1227, 1242. The park ranger's testimony supports this as well. RP 1259-62. He testified that on the night in question, he ran into a young female and male near a restroom. She wanted money for a pay phone and needed a ride, but he wasn't able to help her. RP 1260-1.

The State also presented testimony that Stafford showed up at his next-door neighbor's house, covered in blood, in the middle of the night during the summer of 1993. This was around the same time that Shawna went missing. And she lives only half a mile from Sportsman's Park, where Shawna was last seen alive. RP 1453. And nearly every article of clothing Stafford was wearing (except his shoes and socks) had blood on it. RP 1455. Importantly, the injuries to Shawna would have involved a lot of blood splatter, especially her head wounds. SE 18-20. Stafford also denied living at this location with his sister, yet Mrs. La Fray testified that he lived there for all of 1993. RP 52, 1452.

For his sufficiency argument, Stafford points to inconsistencies amongst witnesses as to whether Travis and Shawna were practically inseparable.

Appellant's Brief at 39. However, a challenge to the sufficiency of evidence admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that can reasonably be drawn therefrom. State v. Theroff. 25 Wn. App. 590, 593, 608 P.2d 1254 (1980). This court must defer to the trier of fact on issues of conflicting testimony,

credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of the evidence. <u>State v. Thomas</u>, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874-75, 83 P.3d 970 (2004) (citing <u>State v. Cord</u>, 103 Wn.2d 361, 367, 693 P.2d 81 (1985)). The jury, alone, has had the opportunity to view the witnesses' demeanor and to judge their veracity.

Thus, the facts must be viewed in the light most favorable to the State, not the defendant. Here, the State's testimony showed that Travis and Shawna were always together. Other than a handful of folks, they did not know anyone in Yakima and had only been in the area for a really short time. The reasonable inference is that Shawna did not know Stafford at all. This inference must be admitted for purposes of analyzing the sufficiency of the evidence.

Stafford also references Dr. Thiersch's testimony for his sufficiency argument. But, he examines Dr. Thiersch's testimony in the light most favorable to the defense, which is not the relevant standard. While the pathologist admitted on cross the possibility that some defensive wounds could have been caused by Shawna falling down, the doctor testified that Shawna would have had to fallen down *multiple times* given the pattern of bruising. RP 1104. The defense suggestion that the bruises could have been caused by Shawna falling down ignores the extent of her injuries and the fact that recent bruises were found on all over her body. SE 14, 16-7, 21-5.

On appeal, Stafford suggests that the bruising could have been caused by falling down from being intoxicated. Stafford's own witness, Kennith Maddon,

testified that on June 12, 2013, he spent the day with his girlfriend, Kim Moyer, as well as Travis and the victim. They went to the tri-cities to look for work and when they returned, he dropped off Travis and the victim near at an intersection near a gas station. RP 2079. Mr. Madden testified that the victim was not drinking heavily and was "far from being drunk." RP 2084.

Stafford's argument also ignores the presence of bruising in light of the more serious injuries, including multiple skull fractures, lacerations, scrapes, and evidence of strangulation. SE 15, 18-20. Furthermore, there was no evidence that Shawna had any sort of recent fall or history of falling. Dr. Theirsch also testified that the injuries were all caused around the same time. RP 1118. He described the bruises as the type of bruises one would expect to see shortly after an injury. RP 1082. They were fresh purplish-red bruises that had not had a chance to heal.

Given the totality of the evidence, including the manner of the victim's death (multiple skull fractures from blunt force strikes), evidence of strangulation, and multiple lacerations and bruises, and viewing this evidence in the light most favorable to the *State*, the bruising was more likely related to the rape and murder of Shawna.

Similarly, while Dr. Thiersch admitted that the spermatozoa might have persisted in her vagina for days prior to her death, he also testified that on average, it is typically only 24, maybe 30 hours. RP 1096, 1109. He said that the time period is much shorter for sperm found in the oral cavity. RP 1099. This

on June 14, the morning after Shawna's body was found. RP 1077, SE 26. The fact that on average sperm only last 24 to 30 hours in the vagina is consistent with Stafford raping Shawna after Shawna was last seen by Travis.

Appellant argues that this time frame is consistent with a theory of consensual sex. However, when you consider the fact that Stafford's spermatozoa was present in the victim's oral cavity *and* vagina, and the totality of the evidence admitted at trial, the time frames actually are more consistent with the State's theory of the case —that he murdered Shawna close in time to when he raped her and left his sperm behind.

#### b. Intent

There is overwhelming evidence that Stafford acted with intent to cause the death of the victim. The forensic pathologist testified as follows regarding the fractures on the front part of Shawna's skull: "This is a forceful strike, injury impact that occurred at that location, enough to cause fracturing of the underlying skull." RP 1085. He described the injuries as significant, lethal injuries, causing damage to the brain as well as fracturing the skull. RP 1087. With the injuries Stafford inflicted on her, there can only be one intent, an intent to kill. From the evidence presented a rational trier of fact could have concluded that he intentionally struck her with a weapon multiple times, on the back and front of her head in order to kill her.

#### c. Premeditation

Further, there was sufficient evidence that his intent to cause her death was premeditated. Premeditation has been defined as "the deliberate formation of and reflection upon the intent to take a human life" and involves "the mental process of thinking beforehand, deliberation, reflection, weighing or reasoning for a period of time, however short." State v. Gentry, 125 Wash.2d 570, 598-99, 888 P.2d 1105, cert. denied, 116 S. Ct. 131 (1995). Premeditation must involve more than a moment in point of time. RCW 9A.32.020(1).

Premeditation may be inferred when the circumstances of the crime suggest that the defendant considered the death prior to acting. Gentry, 125 Wash.2d at 598-99. Premeditation may be proved by circumstantial evidence where the inferences drawn by the jury are reasonable and the evidence supporting the jury's finding is substantial. Id. at 598. A number of appellate cases have considered the sufficiency of evidence with respect to premeditation and demonstrate that a wide range of proven facts will support an inference of premeditation. Id.

For example, sufficient evidence to infer premeditation has been found where (1) multiple wounds were inflicted; (2) a weapon was used; (3) the victim was struck from behind; and (4) there was evidence of a motive, such as robbery or sexual assault. <u>Id.</u> at 599. Here, Shawna suffered five skull fractures to both the front and back of her head. RP 1085-6, 1114. The fractures were likely

caused from an unknown weapon. RP 1114-5. Further, there is evidence of a motive: sexual assault.

In addition, evidence that a homicide was preceded by a different type of attack is sufficient to show premeditation. See State v. Gibson, 47 Wash. App. 309, 734 P.2d 32, review denied, 108 Wash.2d 1025 (1987). Here, there is evidence that Stafford attempted to strangle her, and that strangulation was not the ultimate cause of her death. RP 1083, 1102. The jury may well have inferred that Stafford strangled prior to striking her in the head. From this, they may have inferred that Stafford had to find a weapon when his attempt at strangulation failed.

The numerous defensive wounds also show she was alive at the time, RP 1082, and indicate that she and Stafford struggled before the fatal blows that took her life. See State v. Ollens, 107 Wash. 2d 848, 850, 733 P.2d 984 (1987) (sufficient evidence of premeditation where victim was stabbed multiple times with defensive wounds because jury may have reasonably determined that the defendant sought a weapon and continued stabbing the victim to effectuate a robbery after victim fought back).

In addition, the jury may have inferred that Stafford killed the victim to conceal the rape that had just occurred. A motive of that kind is circumstantial evidence of premeditation. See Ollens, 107 Wash. 2d at 851. Here, the physical evidence shows deliberate premeditation and planning to take the victim's life in

those five lethal blows. These were strikes so forceful that they actually fractured her skull in multiple places. This was in addition to the evidence of strangulation, forcible rape, and numerous defensive wounds. This evidence was sufficient to support the jury's finding of premeditation.

### d. Causation

The State must prove that the victim died as a result of the defendant's acts. The uncontroverted testimony was that she died from the blunt impacts to her head with cerebral contusions. RP 1079, SE 20. Counsel argues that Shawna's "behavior likely contributed to her being victimized resulting in her tragic end." Appellant's Brief at 43. For one, whether Shawna "contributed" in any way to her death is irrelevant for purposes of this appeal. One could foreseeable "contribute" to their death by walking alone at night as well. It simply is irrelevant. Secondly, while it is easy to place blame on a victim who is not able to speak for herself because she is dead, Shawna did not cause her tragic end. Clayton Stafford did. The evidence at trial was overwhelming in that regard.

#### e. Location

Stafford argues that there was no evidence of a crime scene or where the murder occurred. Appellant's Brief at 37. First of all, the State does not need to prove the existence of a crime scene. Here, the crime scene was where Shawna's body was discovered, in the Yakima River, a constantly moving crime scene in which evidence can be easily washed away.

Second of all, the State does not need to prove the exact location where the crime occurred-only that it occurred in the State of Washington. Here, Shawna's body was found in the middle of the Yakima River not long after she was last seen by her boyfriend at Sportsman's Park in Yakima, Washington. Her body was found upstream about 2.5 miles from the park. RP 1014. As such, there was overwhelming evidence to support the essential element that this crime occurred in the State of Washington. In sum, there was substantial evidence that a rational jury could have found all the essential elements of first degree murder beyond a reasonable doubt.

# 2. A rational trier of fact could have found the presence of the aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt.

By way of a special verdict form, the jury was also asked whether the murder was committed in the course of, in furtherance of, or in immediate flight from the crime of first or second degree rape. CP 45. The standard of review is whether any rational trier of fact could have found the presence of the aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Varga, 151 Wn.2d 179, 201, 86 P.3d 139 (2004).

As discussed previously, there was substantial evidence that the sexual encounter between Stafford and Shawna was not consensual. A rational jury could have found that he committed the murder "in the course of, in furtherance of, or in immediate flight from the crime of first or second degree rape." Based on the uncontroverted evidence, Stafford's semen was present in the victim's

vagina and mouth when her nude body was discovered. At the same time, there was evidence that the victim had suffered a horrendous death and had defensive wounds indicative of a struggle and lack of consent to sexual intercourse.

There was also substantial evidence that Stafford was a complete and utter stranger to her. No one had ever seen him with the victim, young lady more than 20 years younger than Stafford. Shawna was in a committed relationship with her boyfriend and had only been in Yakima for a short time to find work. Further, numerous witnesses testified that the victim was not one to go out and only wanted to get home that night and go to sleep. And as indicated previously, Stafford denied knowing who she was and denied that his DNA was inside of her.

It would have been completely reasonable for a jury to infer that Stafford killed Shawna in order to conceal the forcible rape he committed and then threw her naked body in the Yakima River in an attempt to wash any evidence that he may have left behind. Based on all this evidence, the only logical answer to the special verdict question was that the murder was committed in furtherance of, or in immediate flight from the crime of first or second degree rape. As such, a rational trier of fact could have found the presence of the aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt.

# E. THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED AS TO THE SPECIAL VERDICT.

The jury instructions in this case read, in pertinent part, as follows:

INSTRUCTION NO. 24 (last 2 paragraphs)

Because this is a criminal case all twelve of you must agree in order to answer the special verdict form. In order to answer the special verdict form "yes", you must unanimously be satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt that "yes" is the correct answer. If you have a reasonable doubt as to the question, you must answer no."

Because this is a criminal case, each of you must agree for you to return a verdict. When all of you have so agreed, fill in the proper form of verdict or verdicts to express your decision. The presiding juror must sign the verdict forms and notify the bailiff. The bailiff will bring you into court to declare your verdict.

INSTRUCTION NO. 25 (last sentence)

In order for you to find that there is an aggravating circumstance in this case, you must unanimously agree that the aggravating circumstance has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

CP 43-45. Stafford did not object at trial to these instructions. RP 2131-2, Appellant's Brief at 43.

Stafford argues that in light of <u>State v. Bashaw</u>, 169 Wn.2d 133, 234 P.3d 195 (2010), <u>overruled by State v. Guzman Nuñez</u>, 174 Wn.2d 707, 285 P.3d 21 (2012), the sentencing enhancements must be vacated because the jury was incorrectly instructed that it had to be unanimous to answer "no" to the special verdict forms. Appellant's Brief at 43. Under <u>Bashaw</u>, juror unanimity "is not required to find the *absence* of such a special finding." 169 Wn.2d at 147.

However, in <u>Guzman Nuñez</u>, the Washington State Supreme Court held that a trial court's instruction requiring unanimity to answer "no" to a special

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